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I ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred by granting Defendants' Motions to 

Dismiss. 

2. Trial court erred by failing to rule Defendant Trust was not 

entitled to foreclose. 

3. Trial court erred by failing to rule MERS assignment of the 

deed of trust invalid. 

4. Trial court erred by failing to rule Defendant NWTS was 

required to issue a ne\¥ notice of default prior to commencing the 

foreclosure proceeding that is the subject of this litigation. 

5. Trial court erred in awarding attorney fees pursuant to the 

subject deed of trust. 

A. Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error 

1. Did Plaintiffs Waive Right to Contest Sale? 

2. Does RCW 62A.9A-203 determine who is entitled to 
enforce the DOT? 

3. Does the Waiver Doc..1rine Apply to this Case? 

4. Can Plaintiffs prove their CPA w1derthe facts of this case? 

5. Do Piaintifls have standing to Challenge legality of 
Defendants' actions? 

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

On April 12, 2006, Pirst Franklin, a division of National City Bank 

oflndiana {"FF''). originate-cl a mortgage loan on behalf of Plaintifl The 

loan consisted of a note ("Note'') and deed of trust ("DOT"). both 
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on or about April 12, 2006. CP 408.The Note and DOT named 

the lender, and DOT named First American Title the trustee and 

ivfortgagc Electronic Registration Systems, Inc. ('"MERS") the beneficiary. 

Id. FF recorded the DOT in the Snohomish County Auditor's Office 

File no. 200604280683 on April 28, 2006. Id. 

the only entity that has ever acknowledged MERS as its 

\vent out of business in 2007. Accordingly, MERS could not 

acting as nominee for FF when MERS attempted to assign the 

and DOT to Deutsche Bank National Trust Co., as Trustee for the 

Registered Certificate holders of First Franklin Mortgage Loan Tmst, 

Asset-Backed Securities Series 2006-FF8 ("Trust") on October 6, 2011. 

On July 26, 2009, several amendments to the Washington Deeds of 

Trust Act ("D'rA") becan1e law. One of those amendments (RCW 

61 .24.030(7)(a)): (1) required a trustee to have proof a beneficimy is the 

owner of the note secured by a DOT before recording, transmitting, or 

serving a notice of trustee's sale ('"NOTS"); and (2) authorized a trustee to 

accept a declaration that contains language approved in .030(7)(a) from a 

heneficim:v as proof of ownerslu/1. 1 

1 RC\\! 6 l ,24,030(7)(a) reads as follows: "Thai, for residential real property. before the 
notice of trustee's sale is recorded, transmitted, or served, !he trustee shall have proof that 
the brncficiary is the o\vner of any promissory note or other obligation secured by the 
deed of trust A declaration by the beneficiary made under the penalty of pei:iury stating 
that the beneficiary is the actual holder of the promissory note or oilier obligation secured 
by the deed of trust shall be sufficient proofas required under this subsection." The most 
important words in the second sentence of the quote are the six words at !he end of the 
second sentence; ·'proof as required under this subsection." The noun "proof' and its 
prepositi.onal modifier ";is required under this subsection," considered together, are an 
umnista~aMc reference lP the .. prool-ol-ownership-ofthe.,note" requirement in the first 
s~·ntence nf (7 )(a). Consequently, the two sentences of (7)(a) are in harmony with one 
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On October 6. l, fv1ERS a!lempted to assign Plaintiffs' DOT 

{not Note) to Tmst. CP 410, 

September 2014, Select Portfolio Servicing, 

LLP ('"SPS"), claiming to be the attorney-in-fact for the Trnst. attempted 

to appoint NWTS the successor trustce.2 CP 418. Neither SPS nor the 

NWTS ever provided the trial court \Vith any proof SPS was in fact the 

Trust's authorized Despite Plaintiffs' objection, the trial court never 

required NWTS to prove SPS had in fact been the Trust's agent when SPS 

the successor trustee. There is no evidence in 

another, not conflict. The focus of both sentences is on obtaining "proof" the beneficiary 
is the owner of the note. The only way one can arrive at the conclusion the second 
sentence is about obtaining proof the beneficiary is the holder of the note is by chopping 
off the prepositional phrase "as required under tht's subsection" at the end of the 
sentence. Ignoring the prepositional phrase at the end of the second sentence is the 
grammatical mistake made by every person who claims the second sentence of(/)(a) is 
about obtaining proof the beneficiary is the holder of the note. This mistake leads 
inexorably to the ·wrong conclusion about \Vhat proof the trustee must obtain before it is 
authorized to record a notice of trustee's sale. 
2 There is no evidence in the record that SPS was Deutsche's agent when it attempted to 
appoint N\VTS the successor trustee. In addition, even ifSPS was Deutscbe's agent when 
it attempted to appoint NWTS the successor trustee, RCW 61.24.0 l0(2) does not grant 
authority for the agent of a lawful bene{lciary to appoint a successor trustee: much less 
for the agent of a person \vho is not a lawful heneQl:ial'Y to appoint a successor trustee. 
The sta!ute --·which must be strictly interpreted and interpreted strictly in favor of 
borrowers -- grnnts aut110rity to a lawful benefl,clary, and no one else, to appoint a 
successor trustee. 

Also, the WDTA specifically states, in several sections, when an agent is 
authorized to perfonmmce on behalf of a principal. See e.g .. RCW 61.24.()3 l. Owing to 
!his specificity in various sections of the \.VDT A, when a section does not specifically 
authorize an agent to act on behalf of a principal, the presumption must be that rut agent is 
not authorized to act. If the legislature had intended to authorize agents to perform all of 
the acts principals are required and permii1ed to perfonn under the WDTA, it would have 
been useless for that body 10 specify, in various sections of the WDTA, specific acts an 
agent is permitted to perform on behalf of a principal. The courts are required to presume 
the legislature has not engaged in vain and useless acts. Oak Harbor School District v. 
Oak Harbor Education Assoc.., el al., 86 Wn.2d 497, 500 (1976); Helleher v. Ephrata 
School DiM. 165, 56 Wn.2d 866, 355 P.2d 989 ( 1960). As a result, not only is NWTS not 
a la11/id~v-appointedsuccessor trustee because, in violation of lf'alker and RCW 
6 l .24J) !0('.2)_ the entity !hat attempted to appoint it-· Deutsche -- was not a lm~:fi1l 

NWTS is not a !awfully-appointed successor trustee because it •vas 
''appointe1!' by someone who daims to be an agent -- a second violation of both IValker 
and RC\V 61.24J) ! 0(2 ). 



the trial court record NWTS was ever lawfuUy appointed the successor 

trustee. Obviously, this is a material fact that could determine the outcome 

of the case. 

On August 27, 2014 and again on September 5, 2014. SPS 

delivered to N\VTS documents SPS described as '"beneficiary 

declarations." c:.P 319, 321 . . Also on September 16, 2014, SPS attempted 

to appoint NWTS the successor trustee. The appointment was recorded on 

September 23, 2014. 

On September 24, 2014, NWTS, acting as the purported successor 

trustee, issued a notice of default ("NOD") to Plaintiffs. CP 325 - 327. On 

November l l, 2014, NWTS recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale 

(''NOTS") that set a sale date of March 13, 2015.CP 329-332. 

Several days before the sale. Plaintiffs sent NWTS a letter. The 

letter explained that the sale was being conducted in violation of numerous 

provisions of the DT A and requested that NWTS conduct a cursory 

investigation to determine whether allegations in the letter were valid. 

Plaintiffs received no response to the letter, and Plaintiffs' home was sold 

on March 13, 20 l 5. This lawsuit followed. 

On or about March 27; 2015. NWTS filed a .Motion to Dismiss 

("Motion") Plaintiffs' lawsuit against NWTS. CP 272 - 288. That motion 

was heard by this Court on April 16, 2015. CP 270--271. At the 

conclusion of the hearing, the Court granted the motion to dismiss. Id. 
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Several months later the remaining Defendants jointly moved for 

dismissal. There motion was granted on October27, 2015. CP 9-10. 

This appeal followed. 

IU LEGAL STANDARDS ON REVIEW 

A. Summary Dismissal of Actions 

Summary dismissal of a cause of action is appropriate only if the 

paTty seeking a summary judgment demonstrates, by uncontroverted facts, 

that no genuine issue of material fact exists. Until this demonstration has 

been made, there is no necessity for the nonmoving party to present any 

evidence to prevent entry of the judgment. Jacobsen v. State, 89 Wn.2d 

104, 569 P.2d 1152 (1977). 

B. RCW CHAPTER 19.86 

Under RCW 19.86.090, any person injured in his business or 

property by a violation of RCW J 9.86.020 may bring a civil action to 

enjoin further violations and recover actual damages. 

Pursuant to RCW 19.86.020, ••unfair or deceptive acts or practices 

in the conduct of any trade or commerce" are unlawful. 

C. RCW CHAPTER 61.24 

l. RCW 61.24.005(2) defines the beneficiary as the holder of 

the instrument or document evidencing the obligations secured by the deed 

of trust, excluding persons holding the same as security for a different 

obligation. 
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61 10(2) authorizes only the benejlcimy to 

a successor trustee. 

61.24.010( 4 ), the successor trustee has a duty 

faith to the borrower. beneficiary. and grantor. 

C RCW 62A.9A-203 

l. RC\V 62A.9A-203(a) detennines that a security (ownership 

1-20 l (b)(35)]) interest in a note attaches to the note when the 

security interest becomes eJ?forceable against the debtor (seller [RCW 

62A.9A-l02(a)(28){B]) and thirdparties. 

2. RCW 62A.9A-203(b) lists the requirements that must be 

met for a Note to become eJ?f(wceable against the seller of the note and 

third parties. 

3. RCW 62A.9A-203(g) is the codification of the common 

law legal axiom, ''the security follows the note.'' 

D. RC\V <i4.04 

1. RC\\/ 64.04.010 requires the transfer of any interest in real 

property lo be accomplished by deed. 

2. RCW 64.04.020 requires a deed to be in writing, 

acknowledged by the party to he bound thereby, before a person 

authorized by statute to take acknowledgements. 

E. l~C\V 64.08 

RC\V 64.08.0J 0 authoriz(~s certain persons, including notary 

publics, to take acknmvledgements of deeds. 
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F. 26 U.S.C. § 860 

1. Under U.S.C. § 860(F)(a)(2)(B), any incorne received 

from an asset that is neither a "qualified mortgage" nor a '·pen11itted 

is izrohiki1ed. The word "prohibited" is not defined in 26 

§ 860. word has its ordinary meaning. 3 

lIS.C. §860(G)(a)(3) -- a "qualified mortgage'' is any 

obligation which is principal{;" secured by an interest in real property and 

IS to REMIC on the startup dcu,1 and in exchange for 

3. pursuant to 26 U.S.C. §860(G)(a)(3)(ii), an obligation that 

is principally secured by an interest in real property and is purchased by 

the REMIC within the 3-month period beginning on the startup day, L(the 

purchase is pursuant to a fixed-price contract in effect on the startup day. 

4. 26 U.S.C. §860(G)(a)(5) -- The term "permitted 

investments'' means any-

(A) cash flow investment, 

(B) qualified reserve asset, or 

{C) foreclosure property. 

5. U.S.C. §860(G)(a){8) -- The tem1 "foreclosure property" 

means property~~ 

:; !Jlack 's Law Dictionw:v defines "prohibit" as "To forbid by !aw; to prevent; -· not 
synonymous: with 'regula.te."'' Merriam-Webster's Collegiate Dictionary. Tenth Edition 
defines ''prohibit" as "l; to forbid by authority: ENJOIN 2A: to prevent from doing 
something b: PRECLUDE ·\Vil see FORBID." Hence, a transaction that results in any 
im·ome from an asset !ha! is neither a "qualified mortgage" nor a "permitted investment" 
i\·.f(ubititfen by 26 v:s.C §860(F)(t1)(2)(D). 
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(A) which would be foreclosure property under section 

856(e) (without regard to paragraph (5) thereot) if acquired by a real estate 

investment trust, and 

(B) which is acquired in connection with the default or 

imminent default of a qualified mortgage held by the REMIC. 

26 u.s.c. § 856 

5. 26 U.S.C. §856(e): 

The tenn 'foreclosure property' means any real property (including 

interests in real property) ... acquired by the real estate investment trust 

as the result of such trust having bid in such property at foreclosure, or 

having otherwise reduced such property to ownership or possession by 

agreement or process oflaw, after there was default (or default was 

imminent) on ... an indebtedness which such property secured. Such term 

does not include property acquired by the real estate investment trust as a 

result of indebtedness arising from the sale or other disposition of 

properly <~f the trust described in section 122 l{a)(l) which was not 

originally acquired as foreclosure property. (Italics added) 

IV ARGUMENT 

A. Plaintiffs did not Waive Right to Contest Sale. 

1. RC\V 61.24.030- Requisites to Trustee's Sale 

In Albice v_ Premier M.orlgage Services of Washington, Inc., 174 

Wn.2d 560 (2012) the Washington Supreme Court found that procedural 

irregularities, such as those that divest a trustee of authority to conduct a 
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can 174 Wn.2d at 565. The Court 

\'. Inc., 159 Wn.2d 903, 911 (2007) as direct 

support for 

'The [ldall Court dctem1ined that a trustee may not withhold 

of a trustee's deed "unless the sale itself was void due to a 

procedural irregularity that defeated the trustee's authority to sale the 

property.'' Udall, 159 Wn.2d at 911. The Udall Court cited Cox v. 

Helenius. 103 \Vn.2d 383, 388, 693 P,2d 683 (1985) (suit brought by 

of a case in \vhich procedural irregularities defoated a trustee's authority to 

a property. As the Udall Court pointed out, the sale in Cox was a 

violation ofRCW 61.24.030(4), a subsection of RCW 61.24.030. ld. 

RCW Section 61.24.030 is entitled "Requisites to a Trustee's 

Sale:' Thus, Albice. by citing Udall, a case that rests on the holding in 

Cox. as authority fiJr the proposition that a sale conducted in violation of 

RCW 61 .24.040(6) 

confinncd that the holding in Albice applies with equal force 

to sales conducted in violation of any one r~lthe subsections of RCW 

61.24.030. The specific subsection of RCW 61.24.030 that was violated in 

('ox \Vas RCW 61.24.030(4). 

a. Schroeder v. Excelsior Management Grp., LLC 

In Schroeder v. Ew·elsior i'vfanagernent Group, LLC, 177 Wn.2d 

P.3d 677 13) a different subsection of RCW 61.24.030 1.vas 
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violated, but the result was the same. Moreover, in that case, the Supreme 

Court made it explicitly clear a violation of any one of the eight 

subsections of RCW 6 l .24.030 will result in invalidation of a sale. 

The primary question before the Schroeder Court was whether the 

parties to a deed of trust could waive the statutory requirement contained 

in RCW 61.24.030(2) that agricultural land must be foreclosed judicially. 

Schroeder, 297 P.3d at 679. Schroeder, like Plaintiffs herein, had sig11ed a 

settlement agreement. 

Both the settlement agreement and a separately signed contract. 

explicitly waived the right to claim the land was agricultural land in the 

event of a subsequent default. In addition, the deed of trust at issue in 

Schroeder specifically stated that the land had not been used, and would 

not be used, for agricultural purposes. Id., at 680. Finally, Schroeder, 

unlike Defendants herein, actually received substantial compensation as 

part of the settlement agreement Schroeder received $425,000 of new 

financing in return for the concession made in the settlement agreement. 

Based on the plain language of RCW 61.24.030(2). the Court held 

that if the land was "agricultural," the trustee had no legal authority to 

foreclose non-:judicially, and the parties could not waive the statute. Id., at 

686. The Court then reversed the lower court rulings, reinstated 

Schroeder's damage claims and ordered the 1rial court to vacate the 

foreclosure sale if the trial court determined the property was agricultural 

land. 

10 
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B. RCW 62A.9A-203 determines who is Entitled to Enforce DOT. 

RCW 62A.9A-203(a), (b), and (g), the codification of the security 

follows the note legal axiom~ detennines who is entitled to enforce a DOT. 

Defendants herein have maintained that they have the right to 

foreclose because the Trust holds Plaintiffs' note ("Note"). They have also 

stated the Trust mvns the Note, but offered no proof in the trial court in 

support of that claim; specifically, the Trust did not provide proof it gave 

•·value" for the Note. In the absence of proof value was given for the Note, 

it is impossible to establish an e~forceable ownership interest in the Note. 

RCW 62A.9A-203(b)(l). And, under RCW 62A.9A-203(g),4 if an 

enforceable ownership interest in the note is not established, it is 

impossible to establish an enforceable ownership interest in the DOT that 

secures the note. In the absence of ai1 enforceable ownership interest in the 

DOT that secures the note, there is no right to enforce the DOT by 

foreclosing non-judicially. 

A non-judicial foreclosure is an attempt to enfi1rce a deed of tnJst, 

1101 an attempt to enforce Jhe note that the deed o:ftrost secures. This point 

seems to be lost on most Jm;vyers and, unfortunately, on not a few judges. 

Defendants' assumption that they are entitled to enforce the deed 

of trust because the right to enforce the note allegedly has been transforred 

to the Trust is an assumption that is born of the widely-held misconception 

that a transfer of the deed of trust follows a transfer of the righ1 to enforce 

1 RCW 62A.9A-203(g) is the codification of the security follows the note legal axiom. 
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the note. RCW 62A.9A-203(a), (b), and (g), the little-understood Jaw in 

Washington for over 16 years, stands in direct opposition to this 

misconception. Often, however, this largely unknown fact does not matter 

because, unfortunately, most lawyers and not a few judges simply don't 

understand RCW 62A.9A-203(a), (b), and (g). 

'I11ere has never been a subsequent assignment of the Note or DOT to the 

Trust. RCW 62A.9A.203(b)(2) requires that the security interest in the 

mortgage note, to be enforceable against the debtor, must be transferred by 

someone ;,vho has rights in the me>rtgage note or who has the power to 

transfer rights in the mortgage note to a purchaser of the mortgage note. 

MERS did not have rights in the mortgage note or the power to transfer 

rights in the mortgage note. Therefore MERS did not have the right to 

transfer Plaintiffs' Note and DOT to the Trust 

In Washington, the .. security follows the note" legal axiom is no 

longer a common law doctrine and has not been a common law doctrine 

for approximately 50 years. Approximately 50 years ago, the Washington 

State Legislature codified the axiom at RCW 62A.9A-203(a), (b), and (g). 

See Ofjicial Commem 3 to UCC 9-203. RCW Chapter 62A is 

Washington's version of the Unifom1 Commercial Code ("UCC"). 

The following is the correct interpretation of RCW 62A.9A-203(a). 

(b), nnd (g). 

RCW 62A.9A-203(a) states a "security interest" (which includes 

the interest of a buvcr of a promissory note in a transaction governed by 

12 
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Article 9A (See RCW 62A.1-201(b)(35)) attaches to a promissory note 

when the security interest becomes enforceable against the debtor (the 

"debtor'' concept includes a seller of a promissory note (See RCW 

62A.9A-102(a)(28)). A '"mortgage note" is just a variety of secured 

prornissory note. Consequently, Article 9A, the Secured Transactions 

Article. not Article 3, provides the rules that govern transactions involving 

transfers of security for secured mortgage notes. 

RCW 62A.9A-203(b) states that a security interest (i.e., ownership 

interest (See RCW 62r'\.1-20l(b){35)) in collateral (i.e., a mortgage note 

(RCW 62A.9A-102(a)(l2)(B)) becomes enforceable against the world 

when three conditions are met: ( 1) value has been given for the note 

(RCW 62A.9A-203(b)(l)); (2) the seller has rights in the note or the 

power to transfer rights in the note to a purchaser (RCW 62A.9A-

203(b)(2)); and (3) either (a) the debtor (i.e., the seller of the note (RCW 

62A.9A-102(a)(28)(B)) bas signed a security agreement that provides a 

description of the note {RCW 62A.9A-203(b)(3)(A}), or (b) the note is not 

a certificated security and, pursuant to the terms of the seller's security 

agreement, is being held by someone other than the secured party {i.e., the 

purchaser ofthe note (RCW 62A.9A-102(a)(73)(D)) solely for the 

purchaser's benefit. See RCW 62A.9A-203(b)(3)(A) and (B) and RCW 

62A.9A-313. 

Under RCW 62A.9A-203(b), the instant the three conditions listed 

in the preceding paragraph have been met, the purchaser's o·wnership 
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that same instant, pursuant to RCW 62A.9A-203(g), the note 

enforceable ownership interest in the security.for the note (i.e., 

the DOT) becomes enforceable against the \Vorld and attaches to the 

the DOT). ln other \vords, the security (i.e., the DOT) 

the note. Official Comment 3 to UCC 9-203. 

l-fo\vever, this automatic transfer of the DOT occurs upon the 

transfer of an enforceable ·'crwnership interest" in the note, !l!!J., as NWTS 

has repeatedly claimed, upon transfer of the "right lo enforce the note." 

The fact the "security follows the note" doctrine is codified in Article 9A, 

the Article that contains the rules governing transfers of "ownership 

interests" in secured promissory notes; and not Article 3, the Article that 

gov ems the negq!)ation._ transfer and enf<.1rcement of promissory notes, is 

proof the doctrine has always referred to the transfer of "ownership of 

secured promissory notes. 

Until counsel for Plaintiff began raising the issue ofthe importance 

of RC\V 62A.9A-203(a). (b), and (g) to the foreclosure process three years 

ago, the provision \Vas never mentioned in foreclosure litigation in this 

state. Initially, bank l:xwyers claimed and court's found RCW 62A.9A-203 

applied only to personal property transactions. In Trujillo v. Northwest 

Trustee Services. inc .. 316 P.3d 768 (2014) this court made such a finding. 

Trufil!o. 326 P.3d at 778. Fortunately, the Supreme Court dispelled the 

erroneous notion that RC\V 62A.9A-203 applies only to personal property 
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transactions in Brown v. Washington Department of Commerce, No. 

90652-1 (2015). In an otherwise brilliant analysis of9A-203(a), (b), and 

(g), an analysis Plaintiffa' counsel originated more than 2 years before the 

Supreme Court's decision in Brown, the Court failed to recognize the 

importance of9A-203(g)'s connection with, and dependence on, 9A-

203(a) and (b). Because the Court failed to recognize that connection, it 

predictably arrived at the wrong conclusion. 

A deed of trust does not follow the transfer of the right to enforce a 

note. As demonstrated below, a deed oftrust follows the transfer of the 

right of ownership <?la note. RCW 62A.9A-203(a), (b). and (g). Since 

Defendants have provided no proof that the Trust owns the note (though 

they have casually claimed ownership without providing proof;, granting 

summary judgment would be a violation of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a). 

The Cox Court declared the sale unlawful because of a violation of 

the requisites to a lawful trustee's sale contained in RCW 61.24.030(4); 

and the Schroeder Court declared the sale unlawful because of a violation 

of the requisites to a lawful trustee's sale contained in RCW 61.24.030(2); 

In other words, in Cox, and Schroeder, the Washington Supreme 

Court has already mled that a violation of the requisites to a lawful 

trustee's sale contained in either one of two of the eight subsections of 

RCW 61.24.030 -- .030(2), and .030(4)- invalidates a sale. Among other 

alleged violations, Plaintiffs have alleged and provided proof that 
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Defendants have violated RCW 61.24.030(7) in numerous ways while 

prosecuting this non-judicial foreclosure. 

C. ·waiver 

The Washington Supreme Court has already determined that 

violations ofRCW 61.24.030 cannot be waived because the requirements 

of RCW 61.24.030 are not '"rights" or '"privileges" of a grantor; they are 

"'limitations on the authority of the trustee to foreclose." Cox v. Helenius. 

103 Wn.2d 383, 693 P .2d 683 ( 1985); and Schroeder v. Excelsior 

1\tfanagement Group, LLC. 177 Wn.2d 94, 297 P.3d 677 (2013). Plaintiffs, 

out of lack of knowledge, may not have initially moved as quickly as an 

experienced foreclosure lawyer would have moved, but, after learning 

about the illegalities here involved, Plaintiffs moved with lightning speed 

to protect their rights. There is no waiver. 

D. Consumer Protection Act Claim 

To prevail on a claim for violation of the Consumer Protection Act 

(''CPA"), Plaintiff must prove: (1) an unfair or deceptive act or practice; 

(2) occurring in trade or commerce; (3) a public interest impact; (4) injury 

to Plaintiff in his business or property; and (5) causation. Hangman Ridge 

Training Stables v. Safeco Title Ins. Co .• l 05 Wn.2d 77& (1986). 

1. Deceptive acts and practices. 

As stated in the First Amended Comp1aint and documented in the 

exhibits attached to said Complaint, Defondants engage<l in a pattern of 

deceptive and unfair acts and practices in foreclosing the Property non-
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judicially. These acts include: (1) allowing MERS to assign interests in the 

the 

DOT lo the even though MERS never "o'h'Ued" or "held" 

or DOT; MERS failure to assign Plaintiffs' Note and DOT to 

within period required by tederaJ Ja\x,; (26 U.S.C. 

"""'"""'preventing Plaintiffs' loan from becoming a "quafilied 

(3) the Trust to commence and conclude this non-

judicial foreclosure even though the non-judicial foreclosure sale would 

the of income by the Trust from an asset that is neither a 

mortgage" nor a "permitted investment, in violation of the 

prohibition contained in 26 lJ.S.C. §860(F)(a)(2)(B); ''and (4) NWTS 

acting on the successor-trustee authority allegedly obtained when SPS 

appointed NWTS the successor trustee on September 23, 2014, even 

though all of the Defbndants, including specifically NWTS, were mvare 

that SPS did not hold any interest in the Note or DOT at any point in time. 

a. MF:RS assigned the Note and DOT. 

In Bain v. A1e1ropolitan Mortgage Group, Inc., 175 Wn.2d 83 

(20 l the Washington Supreme Court ruled that MERS could not be a 

lawful beneficiary. MERS, the Court reasoned, had never '"held" or 

"owned'' the note, and therefbre had never had any interest in the note. 

Since the DOT foHows the note (See RCrV 62A.9A.-203(a),(b) and (g)), 

MERS also never obtained any interest in the DOT. Accordingly, MERS 

had no right to the beneficial interest in the DOT. One may assign 
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on!y an interest that one possesses. MERS' assignment of the Note and 

DOT is inherently deceptive. Bain l 75 Wn.2d at 150. 

Additionally, RCW 62A.9A-203(a) states a security interest 

(including the interest of a buyer of a promissory note in a transaction 

governed by Article 9A (RCW 62A.1-201[bl[35]) attaches to a promissory 

note when 1he security interest becomes enforceable against the debtor 

(including a seller of a promissory note (RCW 62A.9A-102[a][28]).5 

RCW 62A.9A-203(b) states that a security (ownership) interesl 

becomes enforceable when three conditions are met. One of the three 

conditions is that the person who claims the security interest must have 

given value for the note. MERS never gives value for any borrower's note 

and did not give value for Plaintiffs' Note in this case. As a result, MERS 

did not have an enforceable ownership interest in the Note to transfer. The 

transfer of the mvnership interest in the Note therefore was void ab initio. 

RCW 62A.9A-203(g) is the codification of the common law 

security follows the note legal axiom. See Official Comment 9 to UCC §9-

203. Under 9A-203(g), Plaintiffs' DOT was automatically transferred u: 
and only if, Plaintiff"' Note was transferred pursuant to 9A-203(a) and (b). 

The only transfors that occur pursuant to RCW 62A.9A-203(a) and (b) are 

sales of promissory notes. Consequently, the version of the security 

follows the note legal axiom codified at 9A-203(a), (b), and (g) is 

5 A "mortgage note" is just a variety of !ei<Ured promissory note. Article 9A (the Secured 
Transactiom; Article), not Article 3 (the Negotiable lmtruml!ltl$ Article), applies to 
transactions involving secured mortgage notes. 
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diametrically opposed to the version of the security follows the note 

doctrine set forth in Brown v. Washington Department of Commerce, No. 

90652-1 (2015). 

Brawn is controlling authority in Washington. RCW 62A.9A-

203(g), however, is also controlling legal authority in Washington. It is 

untenable for two diametrically opposed versions of the security follows 

the note legal axiom to be controlling legal authority in Washington at the 

same time. Moreover, one of the versions, of necessity, is wrong. Since 

RCW 62A.9A-203 is perfectly aligned with the historical meaning of the 

security follows the note doctrine, 9A-203 is not the version that is wrong. 

MERS' assignment of the Note and DOT, when it did not own any 

interest in the Note or DOT, was certainly unfair and deceptive; and the 

participation of each of the other Defendants in MERS' assignment of the 

Note and DOT was equally unfair and deceptive. 

b. Plaintiffs' DOT has never been lawfully assigned to the 
Trust. 

RCW 64.04.010 requires that all interests in real property be 

transferred by decd.6 RCW 64.04.020 directs that, to be lawful, a deed 

6 Defendants claim MERS' assignment is irrelevant because the Trust automatically 
obtained the right to enforce the deed of trust wllen the Trust became the "holder" of the 
Note. As shown above, RCW 62A.9A·203 stands in direct opposition to this popular 
misconception .. Jn addition, however, RCW 64.04.0JO also stands in opposition to this 
cnoneous notion. 

Plaintiffs anticipates that Defendants will claim the transfer of a deed of trust need not 
be by deed because the deed of trust follows the note automatically. Further, Defendants 
will probably cite Howardv. Shaw, IO Wn. l51, 38 P. 746 (1894) and RCW 62A.9A-203 
as authority for their position. Respecting Howard, the claim will be that after the holding 
in Howard. the transfer of an interest in a deed of trust is no longer considered a 
"conr<~vam:e." Consequently, the real property "conveyanc.t' statutes no lunger apply. In 
reality, however, Howard does not stand for the proposition that after Howard the 
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must be in writing, signed by the party to be bound thereby, and 

acknowledged by the party to be bound thereby before a person authorized 

by statute to take acknowledgements. Clearly, to be bound by the transfer 

of an interest in real property the transferor must have rights in the 

property prior to the transfer. 

MERS lacked any interest in the lien on the Property represented 

by the DOT when MERS assigned the DOT to the Trust Hence, 

independent of the RCW 62A.9A-203 analysis, the MERS assignment 

transferred to the Trust only that which MERS possessed - nothing! The 

failure to transfer the lien interest represented by the DOT, independent of 

the numerous other bases for invalidating the salet invalidates the 

foreclosure proceeding and, as a result, the March 13, 2015 sale. 

Defendants' collective decision to acton the basis of this invalid 

MERS' assignment was an unfair and deceptive act by each of the 

Defendants. 

c. NWTS had no lawful authority to commence this 
foreclosure. 

transfer of a deed of trust is no longer a conveyance. Howard stands for the proposition 
that after Howard the transfer of a deed of trust is no longer the transfer of a "fee title 
interest in the property;" it is the transfer of a "lien interest in the property." Defendants 
have simply misread Howard. 

Nor does RCW 62A.9A-203 support Defendants' position. According to the 
Permanent Editorial Board of the UCC, the official interpreters of the meaning of the 
UCC, RCW 62A.9A-203 is subortlinate to .ftate prop.ertf. laws. See Report of the 
Pemument Editorial Board/or the Uniform Commercial Code.'. Application of the 
Un(form Commercial Code fo Selected Issues Relating to Mortgage Notes (American 
Law Institute and National Conference of Commissioners on Unifoon State Laws, 
November 14, 2011), at lb. 43. That is, in a contest between RCW 62A.9A-203 and 
RCW 64.04.0lO concerning !he rules for transferring real property in Washington, RCW 
64.04.010 controls. Id 
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'The Trust derived its authority to act from MERS' assignment of 

the Note and DOT to the Trust-an assignment that. for several reasons,7 

was legally ineffective. NWTS was appointed the successor trustee by the 

Trust - an appointment that, because of the ineffectiveness of the MERS 

assignment, was also legally ineffective. Accordingly. NWTS had no 

authority to proceed with a non-judicial foreclosure and violated the 

WDTA by starting one and by actually selling the Property on March 13, 

2015. 

In the absence of lawful authority, NWTS's commencement of this 

foreclosure was unfair and deceptive. 

d. The foreclosure is forbidden by 26 U.S.C. 
§860(F)(a)(2)(B). 

26 U.S.C. §860(F)(a)(2)(B) forbids any transaction that produces 

income from an asset that is neither a ••qualified mortgage" nor a 

"permitted investment. 

1. Plaintiff's loan is not a "qualified mortgage.'' 

When MERS assigned Plaintiffs' loan (Note and DOT) into the 

Trust on October 6, 201 l, the loan did not become a "qualified mortgage'' 

for three reasons. 

-------------

a. MERS assigned the DOT in violation of 
RCW 64.04.01 O. 

7 The assignment was legally ineffective because: ( 1) MERS had no interest to assign; (2} 
even if MERS had had an interest to assign, (a) the loan was assigned more than 5 years 
after the Trust closed and (b) MERS did not receive a regular or residual interest in 
exchange for the loan. 
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The assignment was legally invalid because it was made by 

MERS, an entity that did not own any interest in the Note or DOT. As a 

result, the assignment violated the requirement in RCW 64.04.020 that an 

interest in real property be transferred by the person to whom the interest 

transforred is owed. There has never been any other attempt to assign the 

DOT to the Trust. Accordingly, pursuant to the requirements ofRCW 

Chapter 64.04, the lien interest in the Property represented by the DOT has 

never been lawfully transferred into the Trust. 

b. Loan assigned to Trust more than five 
years after Trust's Startup Date and 
therefore was not a "qualified mortgage." 

The loan was not assigned to the Trust W1til more than five years 

after the Trust closed. According to the Trust Agreement, the Trust closed 

on Jun(? 29 .. 2006. The Assignment occurred on October 6, 2011, more 

than five years after the Trust closed. 

Pursuant to 26 U.S.C. §860(G}(a)(3)(A)(i) and (ii). to be a 

"qualified mortgage" a Joan must be assigned into the Trust, at the very 

latest, no later than 90 days qfter the Trust's closing date. Transfer of a 

loan into a REMIC trust alter the 901h day is prohibited by federal law. See 

26 U.SC. .':i'>'860(F) and (G). Since the loan was not assigned into the Trust 

until more than.five (5) years after the Trust's closing date, if it has ever 

been assigned to the Trust, the loan is not legally part of the Trust. 

c. MERS did not receive "regular" or 
"residual" interest in exchange for the 
loan and therefore the loan was not a 
"qualified mortgage." 
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When MERS assigned the loan into the Trust, MERS did not 

receive a regular or residual interest in the Trust in exchange for the loan. 

The Trust records \:1,1iB bear out this allegation. Pursuant to 26 U.S.C. 

§860(G)(a)(3)(A){i), to be a '"qualified mortgage," a loan must be 

transferred into a Trust in exchange for regular or residual interests in the 

Trust. Con.'\\equently, the loan would not have become a "qualified 

mortgage" even if it had been lawfully transferred into the Trust. 

Selling the Property therefore was a deceptive and unfair act that is 

the result of Defendants' concerted actions. 

2. Acts Capable of Repetition. 

These illegal acts have been repeated in hundreds, if not thousands, 

of foreclosures throughout the State of Washington. Defendants have 

continued the practice of foreclosing on properties for which the 

foreclosing entity obtained its lien interest in the property through an 

assignment from MERS in defiance of the Washington Supreme Court's 

decision in Bain. Because these actions are so often repeated, the practices 

described herein above have a widespread adverse impact on some of 

Washington's most vulnerable and exposed citizens. 

If the court pcnnits this sale to stand, despite the fact Defendants' 

actions have been declared illegal by both the Washington Supreme Court, 

Plaintiff will lose the Property without having had the opportunity to 

establish the illegality of the foreclosure proceeding in a court of law. 
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3. Defendants are the sole cause of Plaintiffs' loss. 

Finally. the loss of the Property is due entirely to Defendants' 

unlawful conduct. Defendants will undoubtedly argue that Plaintiffs' 

failure to make payments is the cause of Plaintiffs' loss, and that Plaintiffs 

cannot fulfill the '"but for~} causation or damages elements. However. in 

this instance it doesn't matter that Plaintiffs have failed to make mortgage 

payments because the foreclosing entity has no more legal right to 

foreclose than Plaintiffs' next door neighbor. Plaintiffs could miss 100 

consecutive payments and Defondants would have no greater right to 

foreclose than they have at this moment. Thus, the loss of Plaintiffs' 

home, if it occurs is due entirely to Defendants' unlawful actions. 

Additional1y, Plaintiffs incurred substantial investigation costs 

prior to instituting this lawsuit. Plaintiffs have been severely injured in 

their property as a result of the wrongful foreclosure and the need to 

investigate Defendants' actions prior to instituting this lawsuit. 

E. Plaintiff bas standing to challenge legality of 
assignments. 

Respondents \ViU almost certainly claim Plaintiffs Jack standing to 

challenge the three MERS assignments. 

Plaintiffs are parties to the DOT and Note. The Lender, or its 

successor or assign has the right to transfer the Note and DOT only 

because Plaintiffs !,,1Tanted the Lender that right in both the Note and DOT. 

However, Plaintiffs granted the Lender the right to make legal transfers 

only. The transfer to the Trust was not a lawfuJ transfer. It violated a 
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foderal statute. As parties to both the Note and DOT. Plaintiffs had an 

absolute right to challenge the transfer. 

More importantly, in Washington) the transfer of an ownership of 

the note does not mean the transferee is automatieally entitled to enforce 

the DOT. Under the Washington version of the UCC, Since Washington 

property laws require all interests in real property to be transferred by 

deed, under the Washington version of the UCC, the right to enforce the 

DOT does not exist until a deed that complies with state law has been 

executed and transferred to the purchaser.8 

Because the attempted assignment of the DOT by MERS was 

legally ineffective, there has been no transfer of the DOT in this case. 

Consequently, Deutsche has never had the right to enforce the DOT and is 

not a lawfully beneficiary under the WDT A; and NWTS is not a lawfully-

appointed trustee. 

The Court should rescind its order granting dismissal to NWTS 

and should reinstate NWTS as a Defendant in this case. 

8Under the rule in UCC § 9-203{g), if the holder of the note in question demonstrated that 
it had an attached security interest (including the interest of a buyer) in the note, the 
holder of the note in question would also have a security interest in the mortgage securing 
the note even in the absence of a separate assignment of the mortgage. (This Report does 
not address whether, under the facts of the Ibanez cruse, the holder of the note had an 
attached security interest i11 the note and, thus, qualified for the application ofUCC § 9-
203(g). Moreover. even if the holder had an attgclml sprif£ Interest la lhe note and, 
tlms, had a securitv interest Jn the mortgage, lhis would NOT. g(itself. mean that the 
holder c()uld enforce tlie mortf(uge wilhout a recordable assJgmnent ofthe mortgage to 
the holder. H'hatePer steps are required in order to .enforce a mortgage in the absence 
ofa recordable qss:ifmmeltl are the province of real property lgw. 
Report of tm• Permtment Editorial Board for the Uniform Commercial Code, Appltrotion of the Uniform 
Com1rti'r;;wl Code M Selet:tt?d J.tsues Relcting to Mortgage Notes. at 12, n.43. (italics, holding. undcncoring and 
capitalization added). 
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